IN THE SUPREME COURT
IN AND FOR THE STATE OF FLORIDA

Case No. 93,065

THE STATE OF FLORIDA, DEPARTMENT
OF NATURAL RESOURCES, n/k/a
DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENTAL
PROTECTION,

Petitioner,

v.

JUAN A. GARCIA, JR., JUAN A. GARCIA
and BARBARA GARCIA, as the natural
parents of JUAN GARCIA, JR., JUAN A.
GARCIA, Individually, and BARBARA
GARCIA, individually,

Respondents

FILED

SID J. WHITE

JUN 15 1998

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By 
Chief Deputy Clerk

PETITIONER'S AMENDED BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

On Petition for Review of a Decision of the
Third District Court of Appeal

HERMELEE & SHARP
Bruce G. Hermelee
Sarah Helene Sharp
25 SE Second Avenue, Suite 1135
Miami, Florida 33131
(305) 373-5444

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

The State of Florida holds title to Florida's sovereign submerged lands, which are the sandy beaches from the mean high waterline or erosion control line on the coast to three miles into the water, in trust for its citizens. App.¹ 1 at p.5. Juan A. Garcia and his parents sued the State of Florida and six other parties after Mr. Garcia was injured when he dove into the sovereign submerged lands adjacent to First Street and Ocean Drive in the City of Miami Beach, in an area popularly known as South Beach. App. 2.

In their Fourth Amended Complaint for Damages, the Garcias alleged that Mr. Garcia was injured because he hit debris left from demolition of the South Beach pier. App. 2. They asserted that the State of Florida should be liable to them for Mr. Garcia's injuries because of the state's ownership and alleged maintenance, operation, and control of the sovereign submerged lands off of South Beach, its alleged agreement with the United States to preserve a coastal area that included these lands, and its alleged involvement in the permitting process that authorized the City of Miami Beach to demolish the South Beach Pier. *Id.*

It is undisputed that although swimmers flock to South Beach, the State of Florida has never either formally designated or operated, maintained, or controlled the sovereign submerged lands off of South Beach as a swimming area. Consistent with its obligation as trustee of the sovereign submerged lands to permit

¹ References to the Appendix are denoted with "App." and the number and page number of the applicable document.

local governmental agencies to operate these lands for the best and most enjoyable use of local citizens, the state did grant the City of Miami Beach the right to manage South Beach. App. 7.

The State of Florida moved for summary judgment, asserting in relevant part that it could not be liable to the Garcias as a matter of law because it never designated or maintained the sovereign submerged lands as a swimming area and its permitting functions do not give rise to tort liability. App. 3. The Garcias opposed the motion by arguing that the State of Florida could be liable because it owned and retained significant control over South Beach, it knew that South Beach was a popular swimming area, it had a non-delegable duty as the owner of the sovereign submerged lands, and it knew, through its permitting process, that there was debris in the water. App. 4 at pp. 4-7.

When the trial court entered final summary judgment in favor of the State of Florida, the Garcias appealed this matter to the Third District Court of Appeal. In Garcia v. Florida, 707 So.2d 1158 (Fla. 3d DCA 1998), the Third District Court of Appeal reversed the summary judgment and remanded this matter for trial on the merits. App. 1 at p. 6. The court reasoned that the state owed Mr. Garcia a nondelegable duty of care as the owner of the sovereign submerged lands, even though it had never designated them as a swimming area. Id. at p. 4. Acknowledging that the state could not "practically be expected to be the insurer of safety for every person" swimming in sovereign submerged lands, the court explained that the state could only be liable for a

breach of the duty of care that it owed as the owner of the sovereign submerged lands "held out or actually used" as public swimming beaches. *Id.* at pp. 5-6. The court found that the state could limit its exposure by obtaining indemnification agreements from the local governmental entities that it permitted to manage sovereign submerged lands for the use of local citizens. *Id.*

The heart of this decision is the court's assertion that:

[t]he test for whether or not liability may exist for the owner of a body of water is not, as the state suggests, whether or not that body of water has been formally designated as a public swimming area. Rather, any body of water held out to be a public swimming area and/or commonly used by the public as a swimming area may give rise to liability for its owner, even if that area was not formally designated as a public swimming area.

Id. at p. 3. The court acknowledged that this assertion expressly and directly conflicts with the Fourth District Court of Appeal's decision in Warren v. Palm Beach County, 528 So.2d 413 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988). *Id.*

The State of Florida timely moved for a rehearing or clarification of the court's decision, seeking rehearing or clarification or both of the meaning of "actually held out as or actually used as a public swimming beach", of the term "public swimming beach", and of the propriety of indemnification clauses between the State of Florida and local governmental entities. App. 9. at pp. 2 and 5. After this motion was denied, the State of Florida timely filed its Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Until Garcia v. Florida, 707 So.2d 1158 (Fla. 3d DCA 1998), the general rule in tort had been that the owner of a body of water can be liable for a breach of its duty of care only if it held the body of water out as a swimming area. The court below has imposed a new duty of care on the State of Florida by finding that, even though the state never designated the sovereign submerged lands off of South Beach as a swimming area, the state may be liable to the Garcias simply by virtue of its ownership of this famous strip of land.

This decision exposes the state to unlimited liability. Because indemnification agreements are statutorily proscribed, the state cannot protect itself from the impact of this decision by obtaining indemnification agreements from other governmental entities. This decision expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal and departs from other appellate decisions on this point of law. This Court should accept jurisdiction to resolve the express conflict among these various decisions.

ARGUMENT

I. THE DECISION OF THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH A DECISION OF THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL AND ALSO CONFLICTS WITH OTHER APPELLATE DECISIONS HOLDING THAT A SOVEREIGN CAN ONLY BE HELD LIABLE FOR INJURIES OCCURRING IN AN AREA THAT IT HAS DESIGNATED FOR SWIMMING.

1. The Third District Court of Appeal has imposed a duty of care on the state that has never before been imposed on any governmental entity or private owner, in express and direct conflict with a decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal on the same point of law, in derogation of section 768.28, Florida Statutes, and in direct conflict with other appellate decisions.

This Court should accept jurisdiction in this matter because the Third District Court of Appeal's decision expressly and directly conflicts with Warren v. Palm Beach County, 528 So.2d 413 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988), conflicts with other appellate decisions, and expands the state's tort liability in derogation of section 768.28, Florida Statutes.

It is the state as sovereign, and not the public, that decides when the state is amenable to suit. Cauley v. City of Jacksonville, 403 So.2d 379, 381. The state's tort liability is governed by section 768.28, Florida Statutes, under which the state waived its sovereign immunity as to negligent governmental conduct for which an underlying common law or statutory duty of care existed. Trianon Park Condominium Ass'n v. City of Hialeah, 468 So.2d 912, 917 (Fla. 1985). In enacting this provision, the state "did not establish any new duty of care for governmental entities." 468 So.2d at 917. The extent to which the state

waived its immunity in tort for Mr. Garcia's injuries is determined by the common law duty of care imposed on private owners of bodies of water. §768.28(1) and (5), Fla. Stat.

Private owners are not held liable by virtue of their ownership alone; they do not owe a duty of care unless they have held the body of water out as a swimming area. Saga Bay Property Owners Ass'n v. Askew, 513 So.2d 691, 692-93 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987), rev. denied, 525 So.2d 876 (Fla. 1988). This Court has held that governmental entities waive sovereign immunity and assume a common law duty of care identical to that imposed on a private owner only when they decide to operate a body of water as a swimming area. Butler v. Sarasota County, 501 So.2d 579 (Fla. 1986). Therefore, whether a governmental body has waived its sovereign immunity and might be liable in tort for accidents occurring on a body of water depends on whether the governmental entity designated or operated the body of water as a swimming area. Andrews v. Dep't of Natural Resources, 557 So.2d 85, 88 (Fla. 2d DCA), rev. denied, 567 So.2d 434 (Fla. 1990), relying on Avallone v. Bd. of County Comm'rs, 493 So.2d 1002, 1005 (Fla. 1986), and Butler, 501 So.2d at 579-80.

Consistent with this authority, the Warren court found that a county was sovereignly immune from tort liability because it had not created a designated swimming area in a body of water that the public openly used as a swimming area. 528 So.2d at 415. The plaintiff had alleged that Palm Beach County should be liable for the injuries that he had sustained when he dove into

Lake Osborne because the county had maintained the lake as part of a public park and had failed to warn visitors about hazardous diving conditions in the lake. Id. at 414. In holding that the county was sovereignly immune from tort liability, the court found that "[i]t matters not that there was some evidence that ... the lake was commonly used for boating and water-skiing, and that there were no signs posted which specifically prohibited swimming and diving." Id.

By contrast, the Third District Court of Appeal has made the state liable for any injuries occurring anywhere on the 682 miles of sovereign submerged lands that it holds in trust for its citizens. Even though the Garcia court acknowledged that there was no issue as to the material fact that the state had never either designated or operated the sovereign submerged lands near South Beach as a swimming area, the court imposed a nondelegable duty of care on the state as the owner of the sovereign submerged lands. App. 1 at p. 4. It explained:

[t]he test for whether or not liability may exist for the owner of a body of water is not, as the state suggests, whether or not that body of water has been formally designated as a public swimming area. Rather, any body of water held out to be a public swimming area and/or commonly used by the public as a swimming area may give rise to liability for its owner, even if that area was not formally designated as a public swimming area.

App. 1 at p. 3.

The final summary judgment entered by the trial court comported with the common law principle that the owner of a body

of water is not liable unless it has held the body of water out as a swimming area. Although this Court has consistently noted that enactment of section 768.28, Florida Statutes, did not establish new duties of care for governmental units, the Third District Court of Appeal has imposed a new duty of care on the State of Florida by finding that, even though it never designated South Beach as a swimming area, it may be liable to Appellants simply by virtue of its ownership of same.

2. Statement as to why the Supreme Court should accept jurisdiction and review this appeal on its merits pursuant to Committee Notes to Rule 9.120(d).

The Garcia decision vests the decision as to whether the State of Florida should be amenable to suit in the public. Although it conceded that the state could not "practically be expected to be the insurer of safety for every person" swimming in sovereign submerged lands, the court found that the state could be liable for a breach of the duty of care that it owed as the owner of sovereign submerged lands "held out or actually used" as public swimming beaches. App. 1 at pp. 5-6. This means that the state is potentially liable when a member of the public uses any portion of its sovereign submerged lands as a beach. In addition, the Garcia opinion fails to specify what factors determine when beaches are "public" for the purpose of tort liability. Because the State of Florida holds the sovereign submerged lands in trust for the public to ensure the continued, unencumbered use of these lands for activities such as swimming,

all of the sovereign submerged lands are public. Therefore, the Garcia decision exposes the state to unlimited liability.

In addition, the Garcia decision will have a chilling effect on the state's discretionary functions. The State of Florida holds title to all of Florida's sovereign submerged lands in trust for its citizens. App. 1 at p. 5. In its capacity as trustee, it may permit local governmental agencies to manage the sovereign submerged lands for the best and most enjoyable use of local citizens. See generally, App. 7. The Garcia decision threatens to allow courts, "by way of tort law, [to] inappropriately ... entangle [themselves] in fundamental questions of policy and planning." Kaisner v. Kolb, 543 So.2d 732, 737 (Fla. 1989).

Finally, the state cannot protect itself from liability by requiring indemnification from local governmental entities. The Florida Constitution and sections 768.28(2) and 768.28(19), Florida Statutes, render such indemnification agreements void and unenforceable. E.g., Op. Att'y Gen. Fla. 78-20 (1978).

CONCLUSION

Because the decision of the court below directly and expressly conflicts with a decision of Florida's Fourth District Court of Appeal, and also conflicts with numerous other appellate decisions, this Court should accept jurisdiction to review and quash the district court's decision.