IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 93,065

THE STATE OF FLORIDA, DEPARTMENT OF
NATURAL RESOURCES, n/k/a DEPARTMENT
OF ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION,

Petitioner,

vs.

JUAN A. GARCIA, JR.; JUAN A. GARCIA
and BARBARA GARCIA, as the natural
parents of JUAN GARCIA, JR.; JUAN A.
GARCIA, individually and BARBARA
GARCIA, individually,

Respondents.

045
FILED

SID J. WHITE

JUL 20 1998

CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By _____
Chief Deputy Clerk

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT
OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, THIRD DISTRICT

RESPONDENTS' BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

NEEDLE, GALLAGHER, ARECES &
ELLENBERG, P.A.
1401 Brickell Avenue, Suite 900
Miami, Florida 33131
-and-
PODHURST, ORSECK, JOSEFSBERG,

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State's statement of the case goes well outside the four corners of the decision sought to be reviewed, and it relies upon an inch-thick appendix containing numerous documents from the record proper. Most respectfully, this was improper. See *Reaves v. State*, 485 So.2d 829, 830 n. 3 (Fla. 1986). We are therefore constrained to restate the case for the reorientation of the Court. For the convenience of the Court, we have appended a copy of the district court's decision to the brief. We will confine our restatement to the face of that decision.

South Beach is undeniably a public swimming area of international renown. It is owned by the State of Florida and operated by the City of Miami Beach under a management agreement in which the State delegated operational control and management of the beach to the City, and in which the City agreed to indemnify the State for any liability it might incur if the beach were negligently operated by the City. When the City demolished the South Beach pier, it failed to remove all the debris from the ocean bottom. On February 1, 1989, Juan Garcia, Jr., an invitee using the beach for its intended purpose, dove into the ocean, struck his head on a piece of the debris, and was rendered quadriplegic.

Juan, Jr. and his parents sued the State, the City, and various others. The State ultimately obtained a summary judgment in its favor by convincing the trial court of two things: (1) that it owed Juan, Jr. no duty of care because it had never formally "designated" South Beach as a public swimming area; and (2) that, if it owed Juan, Jr. a duty of care, it had delegated that duty to

the City. On appeal, a unanimous panel of the district court rejected both contentions.

With respect to the first contention, the district court held that the duty of care owed by an owner of a public swimming area does not turn upon the presence or absence of a formal "designation" of the area as such; rather, it turns upon whether the area is *in fact* held out or used as a public swimming area (as South Beach undeniably is, and as the State has conceded it to be). It was in connection with this holding that the district court cited the decision upon which the State now relies for its attempted demonstration of conflict. The State asserts in its statement of the case (at p. 3) that the district court "acknowledged that this assertion expressly and directly conflicts with the Fourth District Court of Appeal's decision in Warren v. Palm Beach County, 528 So.2d 413 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988)." If this statement were true, our brief would not even have been this long. Most respectfully, the statement is not true.

The district court did not acknowledge conflict of any sort. It simply cited *Warren* with an introductory signal. It did not use the signal "*contra*" or "*but see*"; it used the signal "*but cf.*" *Cf.* means "[c]ited authority supports a proposition different from the main proposition but sufficiently analogous to lend support," and *but cf.* means "[c]ited authority supports a proposition analogous to the contrary of the main proposition." *The Bluebook: A Uniform System of Citation*, p. 23 (16th Ed. 1996). We will parse the *Warren* decision in the argument which follows, and explain why the district court concluded that it presented only an analogous

problem, and was not contrary to its holding in the instant case.

With respect to the second contention, the district court simply applied *thoroughly* settled principles of law to the facts before it. It noted that §768.28, Fla. Stat., explicitly imposed the same duties upon the State as those imposed upon private landowners. It noted that landowners owe a duty to their invitees to maintain their premises in a safe condition for their intended use. And it noted that this duty is non-delegable -- i. e., the performance of the duty may be delegated to another, but liability for its breach by the delegate cannot. It concluded accordingly that the State owed Juan, Jr. a non-delegable duty to ensure that South Beach was maintained in a safe condition for its intended use, and that the trial court had erred in concluding otherwise.

The district court also rejected the State's contention that it was immune from suit. Following two prior decisions of this Court squarely on point, it held that the duty to operate a public swimming area safely is an operational level duty, not a planning level duty. *Avallone v. Board of County Commissioners of Citrus County*, 493 So.2d 1002 (Fla. 1986); *Butler v. Sarasota County*, 501 So.2d 579 (Fla. 1986). The district court also rejected the hyperbolic and entirely unfounded claim which the State has resurrected here, that its application of settled legal principles to the facts before it created a duty "never before" imposed upon the State and exposed it to "unlimited liability." It explained that it is thoroughly settled that the owner of a public swimming area owes a non-delegable duty of care to its invitees; that the State's duty of care extends only to those beaches held out or

actually used as public swimming areas; and that the State could protect itself from financial loss, as it did in the instant case, by including a right to be indemnified from loss in the beach management agreements by which it delegates its duty of care to other governmental entities.

II. ISSUE PRESENTED ON JURISDICTION

WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT'S DECISION IS IN "EXPRESS AND DIRECT CONFLICT" WITH *WARREN V. PALM BEACH COUNTY*, 528 SO.2D 413 (FLA. 4TH DCA), *CAUSE DISMISSED*, 537 SO.2D 570 (FLA. 1988).

III. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The district court's decision is not even arguably in "express and direct conflict" with *Warren*; the State's various quarrels with the merits of the decision are without merit; and review should be denied.

IV. ARGUMENT

THE DISTRICT COURT'S DECISION IS NOT IN "EXPRESS AND DIRECT CONFLICT" WITH *WARREN V. PALM BEACH COUNTY*, 528 SO.2D 413 (FLA. 4TH DCA), *CAUSE DISMISSED*, 537 SO.2D 570 (FLA. 1988).

In this Court at least, the State appears to have abandoned the first contention it made below, that no duty of care can be imposed upon a governmental entity unless it has formally "designated" an area as a public swimming area. Because there is no statute providing any process or procedure whereby public swimming areas can be formally "designated" as such, and because there is no requirement either in the statutory or decisional law for such a formal "designation," this contention amounted to a contention that, by the simple expedient of not doing something which the law does not require it to do, a governmental entity can relieve itself

of an obligation which the law otherwise squarely imposes upon it. Recognizing that this contention is insupportable, the State has at least conceded the correctness of the district court's initial conclusion -- that the duty of care owed by an owner of a public swimming area does not turn upon the presence or absence of a formal "designation" of the area as such, but turns upon whether the area is *in fact* held out or used as a public swimming area.

There is nothing in *Warren* which is even arguably inconsistent with this perfectly straightforward conclusion that a public swimming area is a public swimming area is a public swimming area whether formally "designated" as such or not. Nevertheless, the State contends that the district court's decision is in "express and direct conflict" with *Warren*. Most respectfully, as did the district court, we disagree.

In *Warren*, Palm Beach County operated Lake Osborne as a public park. A local ordinance prohibited swimming in county-owned parks except in areas designated as swimming areas by official signs and markings. Swimming was not permitted in Lake Osborne; there were no signs permitting swimming, and park rangers had instructions to prevent swimming. Nevertheless, the plaintiff dove into the lake at its shoreline and suffered a spinal injury rendering him a quadriplegic. He sued the County for failing to post warnings about the hazardous diving conditions. The jury found the County not negligent.

In his motion for new trial, the plaintiff challenged the correctness of a jury instruction given by the trial court. The propriety of the challenge depended upon whether Lake Osborne was

being operated as a public swimming facility. The trial court ruled that the County "was not operating a swimming facility at Lake Osborne" (528 So.2d at 415) and that the instruction had therefore been correct -- and it denied the motion for new trial. On appeal, the plaintiff argued that Lake Osborne was a public swimming facility, that the County therefore owed him the duty of care that owners of public swimming areas owe to their invitees, and that the jury instruction had been erroneous as a result.

Unfortunately, the only evidence that the plaintiff was able to muster to support imposition of the duty he claimed was evidence that the lake "was commonly used for boating and water-skiing" (*id.*). There was no evidence that the lake's shoreline was commonly used as a swimming or diving area. The district court simply declined to extrapolate the latter from the former to conclude that the shoreline was in use as a public swimming area, and it therefore rejected the plaintiff's challenge to the jury instruction.

In the instant case, South Beach is undeniably in open and notorious use as a public swimming area, so the Warren Court's refusal to extrapolate common use as a swimming area from common use as a boating and water-skiing area is beside the point. Moreover, it is perfectly clear from Warren that, had Lake Osborne been in open and notorious use as a public swimming area, as South Beach is, the Court would have concluded that the County *did* owe the plaintiff the duty of care he claimed. In fact, this Court's decisions in *Avallone* and *Butler*, which hold precisely that, would have given it no choice in the matter.

Most respectfully, the difference between *Warren* and the district court's decision in the instant case is not in their holdings; the difference is in the bodies of water in which the two plaintiffs suffered their tragic diving accidents. In *Warren*, the plaintiff suffered his injury at the shoreline of a lake which was not in use as a public swimming area; in the instant case, Juan, Jr. suffered his injury at a world famous beach which was undeniably in use as a public swimming area. Although the results in the two decisions are different, the decisions are perfectly consistent in their legal conclusions -- and the State's contention that the decisions are in "express and direct conflict" is, we respectfully submit, plainly without merit.

What the State is really arguing here is an entirely different point. In essence, it is quarreling with the merits of the district court's conclusion that the duty of care which arises from the operation of a public swimming area is non-delegable. The State's argument, as we understand it, goes like this: concededly, a duty of care arises from operation of a public swimming area; in this case, the City held out and operated South Beach as a public swimming area, so it owed Juan, Jr. a duty of care; but because only its delegate held out and operated South Beach as a public swimming area, and it did not, it owed him no duty of care -- and the district court therefore erred in imposing a "new duty of care" upon it, "never before" recognized by the law.

Of course, this is an argument with the merits of the district court's conclusion that the duty of care arising from the operation of a public swimming area belongs to its owner and is non-delega-

ble; it is not a claim of conflict, so it is irrelevant to the question before the Court at this juncture -- whether this Court has jurisdiction to review the decision. Relevant or not, however, the State's position on this point is plainly wrong. The district court's conclusion is simply the tail end of a string of simple, settled legal principles, and its logic is unassailable.

A private landowner owes a duty to its invitees to maintain its premises in a reasonably safe condition for their intended use. *Post v. Lunney*, 261 So.2d 146 (Fla. 1972). That duty is non-delegable -- i. e., performance of the duty can be delegated, but liability for its breach by the delegate cannot. *Goldin v. Lipkind*, 49 So.2d 539 (Fla. 1950); *U.S. Securities Services Corp. v. Ramada Inn, Inc.*, 665 So.2d 268 (Fla. 3d DCA), review denied, 675 So.2d 121 (Fla. 1996). Governmental landowners owe precisely the same duties to their invitees as private landowners do (and the duty is an operational level duty where the safety of public swimming areas is concerned). Section 768.28(1) & (5), Fla. Stat.; *Butler, supra*; *Avallone, supra*. It therefore logically follows that the State, as owner of South Beach, owed Juan, Jr. a non-delegable duty to maintain South Beach in a reasonably safe condition for its intended use as a public swimming area. It could delegate performance of that duty to the City if it wished, but it could not delegate its liability for a breach of that duty by its delegate. Most respectfully, the district court's decision is correct.^{2/}

^{2/} There is, incidentally, nothing new or novel about this conclusion. The decisional law uniformly holds that, where a private person would owe a non-delegable duty, the parallel duty

The State also quarrels with the district court's observation that it can protect itself from financial loss by including an indemnification provision in its beach management agreements. It cites a 1978 Attorney General's Opinion as support. Of course, this Court does not have jurisdiction to review decisions which conflict with such an Opinion, so the contention has nothing to do with the jurisdictional question before the Court. The contention is also wrong. There was a time when it was generally accepted that, although governmental entities could enter into contracts, they possessed sovereign immunity from any action to enforce those contracts. As a result, at least prior to 1984, the Attorney General frequently opined that indemnification agreements were unenforceable against governmental entities. The Opinion upon which the State now relies falls into that category. Not one of those pre-1984 Opinions is valid today, however, because this Court changed the law in 1984, when it held that the State no longer enjoyed sovereign immunity from the enforcement of contracts fairly authorized by the powers granted by general law. *Pan-Am Tobacco Corp. v. Department of Corrections*, 471 So.2d 4 (Fla. 1984).

The beach management agreement in issue here was entered into under the authority of Chapter 161, Fla. Stat. (1981), in connection with the State's beach and shore preservation program. At that time, §161.101(3), Fla. Stat. (1981), explicitly authorized

owed by a governmental entity is non-delegable as well. See, e. g., *City of Coral Gables v. Prats*, 502 So.2d 969 (Fla. 3d DCA), review denied, 511 So.2d 297 (Fla. 1987); *Newsome v. Department of Transportation*, 435 So.2d 887 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983), review denied, 459 So.2d 314 (Fla. 1984); *Hubbard Construction Co. v. Orlando/Orange County Expressway Authority*, 633 So.2d 1154 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994).

the State to "enter into cooperative agreements and otherwise cooperate with, and meet the requirements and conditions (including but not limited to, *execution of indemnification agreements*) of federal, state, and other local governments and political entities . . . for the purpose of improving, furthering, and expediting the beach and shore preservation program" (emphasis supplied). (The current version of this statute is identical, and can be found at §161.101(4), Fla. Stat. (1997)). In short, the district court was plainly correct in observing that the State could protect itself from financial loss by including an indemnification provision in its beach management agreements.^{2/}

V. CONCLUSION

It is respectfully submitted that no conflict has been demonstrated, and that review should be denied.